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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

NARY SUN and FLORIBEL ENGLAND, Civil Action No.: 1:26-cv-1614
individually and on behalf of all others
similarly situated, CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
Plaintiffs, JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
V.

PREMIUM BRANDS OPCO LLC,

Defendant.

Plaintiffs Nary Sun and Floribel England (“Plaintiffs”) bring this action on behalf of
themselves and all others similarly situated against Premium Brands Opco LLC (“Defendant”).
Plaintiffs make the following allegations pursuant to the investigation of their counsel and based
upon information and belief, except as to the allegations specifically pertaining to themselves,
which are based on personal knowledge.

NATURE OF THE ACTION

1. Defendant has nickel and dimed online purchasers on its websites in violation of
California’s Consumer Legal Remedies Act (“CLRA”) and Virginia’s Mandatory Fee and
Surcharge Disclosure Law, Va. Code § 59.1-607 ef seq.

2. Defendant operates several e-commerce websites, among them
www.anntaylor.com (“Ann Taylor”’) and www.loft.com (“Loft”) (together, the “Websites™).
Whenever a consumer visits one of the Websites and selects an item for purchase, they are not

shown the total cost upfront. Instead, consumers are quoted an artificially low price, only for
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Defendant to sneak in a mandatory “Processing”! fee (the “Fee”) at the end of the purchase
process.

3. By analogy, if consumers were to walk into a brick-and-mortar clothing store, see
a blouse they liked listed for sale for $49.00, and take it to the checkout counter, they would
expect to pay $49.00 to the store, plus sales tax to the government. If, after consumers swiped
their credit card, they noticed in fine print on the credit card pad that they would also be charged
an extra “Processing Fee” for the service of having the tag’s barcodes scanned and payment
processed, they would reasonably be outraged. And yet this is exactly what Defendant does
every day through its online marketplaces.

4. This practice is known as drip pricing. “Businesses engage in drip pricing by
advertising products at artificially low headline prices and then disclosing additional charges
later in the buying process.” Harvey v. World Mkt., LLC, No. 25-cv-01242-CRB, 2025 WL
1359066, at *1 (N.D. Cal. May 9, 2025) (cleaned up). “Drip pricing” is a “common form of bait
and switch.” Mansfield v. StockX LLC, 802 F. Supp. 3d 1143, 1148 (N.D. Cal. 2025) (citation
omitted). And various state consumer protection laws have long “banned bait and switch in
consumer transactions.” Id. (noting California’s prohibition began in 1970).

5. That said, in recent years, given the proliferation of drip pricing on online
ecommerce platforms, various states—including California, Virginia, and Massachusetts—began
passing laws specifically prohibiting drip pricing. Effective July 1, 2024, California Civil Code §
1770(a)(29)(A) makes it unlawful to “[a]dvertis[e], display[], or offer[] a price for a good or

99 ¢¢

service that does not include all mandatory fees or charges other than either” “[t]axes or fees

! Upon the investigation of Plaintiff’s counsel, Defendant uses or has used both “Processing” and
“Handling” to refer to the undisclosed, mandatory Fee. Thus, the Class also encompasses those
individuals who paid a “Handling” Fee. All allegations concerning the “Processing” Fee apply
equally to the “Handling” Fee, and vice versa.
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imposed by a government on the transaction” or “[p]ostage or carriage charges that will be
reasonably and actually incurred to ship the physical good to the consumer.”

6. Other states have followed suit. Effective July 1, 2025, Virginia Code § 59.1-608
makes it unlawful for suppliers in consumer transactions to “advertise or display a price for
goods or services without clearly and conspicuously displaying the total price, which shall
include all mandatory fees or surcharges.” And in Massachusetts, effective September 2, 2025,
940 CMR 38.04 makes it an unfair and deceptive practice under G.L. c. 93A, § 2 to
“misrepresent[] or fail[] to disclose Clearly and Conspicuously, at the time of the initial
presentation of the price of any Product, or any subsequent presentation thereafter, the Total
Price of that Product.”

7. For these reasons, Plaintiffs seek relief in this action individually and on behalf of
all other purchasers of Defendant’s online products in the states of California and Virginia for
reasonable attorneys’ costs and fees, injunctive relief under California Civil Code §§
1770(a)(29)(A) and 1770(a)(9), and statutory damages under Virginia Code § 59.1-610.

PARTIES

8. Plaintiff Nary Sun is an individual consumer who, at all times material hereto,
was a citizen and resident of Sunnyvale, California.

9. In or around December 13, 2025, Plaintiff Sun purchased two items from
Defendant’s Ann Taylor website: the Weekend Collection Tie Waist Top in Electric in
Periwinkle (advertised at $24.75) and Black (advertised at $24.75). When browsing and selecting
which items to purchase, Plaintiff Sun relied on Defendant’s advertised prices to decide whether
to purchase that item or not.

10. Before Plaintiff Sun reached the checkout screen of the transaction, Defendant did

not inform Plaintiff Sun that she would be charged an additional mandatory Fee. Plaintiff Sun
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was forced to pay Defendant a bundled Shipping & Processing Fee of $8.95 to purchase her
product. This fee was mandatory because Plaintiff Sun could not purchase the product from
Defendant’s website without paying the Fee.

11. At the time Plaintiff Sun purchased her products, she was not aware that
Defendant’s practices were unlawful under California Civil Code §§ 1770(a)(9) and
1770(a)(29)(A). Plaintiff Sun was not browsing in search of legal violations. Plaintiff Sun was
instead browsing because she sincerely intended to purchase a product, and she did in fact
purchase a product.

12. The transaction flow process that Plaintiff Sun viewed on Defendant’s website
was substantially similar to the depiction in this complaint.

13. Plaintiff Floribel England is an individual consumer who, at all times material
hereto, was a citizen and resident of Woodbridge, Virginia.

14. In or around July 6, 2025, Plaintiff England purchased multiple items from
Defendant’s Loft website, including, for example, the Zig Zag Linen Blend Easy Tank Top
(advertised at $24.94). When browsing and selecting which items to purchase, Plaintiff England
relied on Defendant’s advertised prices to decide whether to purchase that item or not.

15. Before Plaintiff England reached the checkout screen of the transaction,
Defendant did not inform Plaintiff England that she would be charged an additional mandatory
Fee. Plaintiff England was forced to pay Defendant a bundled Shipping & Handling Fee of
$16.95 to purchase her product. This fee was mandatory because Plaintiff England could not
purchase the product from Defendant’s website without paying the Fee.

16. At the time Plaintiff England purchased her products, she was not aware that

Defendant’s practices were unlawful under Virginia Code § 59.1-608. Plaintiff England was not
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browsing in search of legal violations. Plaintiff England was instead browsing because she
sincerely intended to purchase a product, and she did in fact purchase a product.

17. The transaction flow process that Plaintiff England viewed on Defendant’s
website was substantially similar to the depiction in this complaint.

18. Defendant Premium Brands Opco LLC (“Defendant”) is a U.S. company with its
corporate headquarters at 7 Times Square, New York, New York, 10036.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

19. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
1332(d) because this is a class action where there are more than 100 members and the aggregate
amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000.00, exclusive of interest, fees, and costs, and at least
one member of the putative Class is a citizen of a state different from Defendant.

20. This Court has general personal jurisdiction over Defendant because Defendant is
headquartered in this state.

21. Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because Defendant
resides in this District.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

California’s Honest Pricing Law

22. Effective July 1, 2024, California enacted California Civil Code §
1770(a)(29)(A), which provides that “[a]dvertising, displaying, or offering a price for a good or
service that does not include all mandatory fees or charges other than either ... [t]axes or fees
imposed by a government on the transaction[]” and “[pJostage or carriage charges that will be
reasonably and actually incurred to ship the physical goods to the consumer[]” is unlawful.

23. Handling charges, which include processing charges, are not postage or carrier

charges. According to the California Attorney General’s Office, “[a] business can exclude
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shipping charges, but not handling charges. ... Like any other mandatory fee or charge, a
handling charge must be included in the advertised price.”>

24. This prohibition is designed to protect consumers. As Senator Bill Dodd, a co-
author of SB 478, stated in describing this new law: “Californians are fed up with dishonest fees
being tacked on to seemingly everything ... It’s an underhanded trick to boost corporate profits
at the expense of those who can least afford it. Our bill will end these unfair practices and put the
consumer first, leveling the playing field for reputable businesses that advertise the real price up
front.”?

25. And according to Attorney General of California Rob Bonta, “[w]e can and
should stop the fleecing of consumers. We can and should stop the imbalance in the
marketplace.”*

Virginia’s Mandatory Fee and Surcharge Disclosure Law

26. In May 2, 2025, Virginia passed Senate Bills Nos. 1212 and 2515, which
amended Virginia’s Consumer Protection Act to add a new Chapter to the Act, entitled
Mandatory Fees or Surcharges. Va. Code § 59.1-607 et seq. The amendment became effective on
July 1, 2025.

27. The law provides that “No supplier shall, in connection with a consumer

transaction, advertise or display a price for goods or services without clearly and conspicuously

2 OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL, CAL. DEP’T OF JUSTICE, SB 478 Frequently Asked

Questions, https://oag.ca.gov/system/files/attachments/press-
docs/SB%20478%20FAQ%20%28B%29.pdf.

3 OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL, CALIFORNIA DEP’T OF JUSTICE, Attorney General Bonta
Calls for California Legislature to Ban Hidden Fees (AKA Junk Fees) (May 16, 2023),
https://oag.ca.gov/news/press-releases/attorney-general-bonta-calls-california-legislature-ban-
hidden-fees-aka-junk (last visited Dec. 24, 2024).

41d
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displaying the total price, which shall include all mandatory fees or surcharges.” Va. Code §
59.1-608.

28. The law defines “Mandatory fees or surcharges” to “include[] any additional fee
or surcharge that must be paid in order to purchase the good or service being advertised.” Va.
Code § 59.1-607. Excluded from this definition are “(i) taxes or fees imposed on the consumer
by a government or government-approved entity or assessment fees of a government-created
special district or program paid to the government or government-approved entity or (ii)
reasonable postage or shipping fees.” Id. “Supplier” is defined as “a seller... that advertises,
solicits, or engages in consumer transactions.” Va. Code Ann. §§ 59.1-607 and 59.1-198.
“Consumer transaction,” in turn, “means: (1) the advertisement, sale ... or offering for sale... of
goods or services to be used primarily for personal, family, or household purposes.” /d.
Massachusetts’ Unfair and Deceptive Fees

29. In March 2025, the Massachusetts Attorney General finalized regulations issued
under the Massachusetts Consumer Protection Act (MCPA) which, effective September 2, 2025,
require businesses to meet stricter requirements for price transparency.

30. 940 CMR 38.04 provides that it “shall constitute an unfair and deceptive practice
under G.L. c. 93A, §2” to “[m]isrepresent|[] or fail[] to disclose Clearly and Conspicuously, at the
time of the initial presentation of the price of any Product, or any subsequent presentation
thereafter, the Total Price of that Product.” 940 CMR 38.04(1).

31. This includes misrepresenting or failing to disclose “the nature, purpose, and
amount of any fees, charges, or other expenses that would be imposed on the transaction due to
the purchase of that Product (excluding Shipping Charges and Government Charges)[.]” 940

CMR 38.04(2)(a).
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32. “Total Price” is defined as “[t]he maximum price a consumer must pay for a
Product, inclusive of all fees, charges, or other expenses.” 940 CMR 38.03.
Ann Taylor’s Website Purchase Flow

33. When consumers enter Defendant’s Ann Taylor website, they are first taken to

Ann Taylor’s homepage. See Figure 1.°

OUR PURCHASE > SHOP NOW & My Account

ANN TAYLOR  Newarivals Clothing Work WEEKEND Tops & Blouses Suits  Shoes Accessories Pefites  Sale Q @ oM

SEMI-ANNUAL SALE EXTRA 70% OFF’ 3+ SALE STYLES | EXTRA 60% OFF "1-2 SALE STYLES ShopSale Shop Petite Sale

Usa code: EXTRA ol checkout. Final Sale. Deluils.

Live (and dress) for the weekend —
in effortlessly elevated fashion.

s s

EEKEND

Figure 1

> All screenshots in this complaint are taken from a computer browser at 100% magnification.
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34, From the homepage, users can begin navigating the website to browse for
products. As a user continues navigating the Ann Taylor website to browse for items, Defendant

advertises the price of each item it sells, as shown below in Figure 2.

B

ANN TAYLOR  Mewanvals Clothing Work WEEKEND Tops&Blouses Suifs Shoes Accessories Pefifes  Sale Q & Q fov

N - -

NEW QUICK VIEW

Belted Sheath Dress Floral Ann Cardigan

$134.25 $17960 $89.25 §19.00

2 5 M PRICE AS MARKED.
Extra10% OFf X

Figure 2
35. Defendant further shows the advertised price of each item when a consumer clicks

on any one item to view individually. See Figure 3.

UPTO 40% OFF YOUR PURCHASE > SHOP NOW & My Account
ANN TAYLQOR MNewarivals Clothing Work WEEKEND Tops & Blouses Suits Shoes Accessories Pefites Sale QA B Aav

HOME / CLOTHING / SWEATERS / FLORALANN CARDIGAN

(&) Beviow sreckdonn:
80% 5-stars.
v J 10% 4-stars
/ . BEST SELLER

Floral Ann Cardigan

$89.25 5119-60

5% OFF! PRICE AS MARKED.

COLOR  Indigo Dusk

1
, )
é SIZE TYPE Classic
< Classic ‘ Petite
é SIZE
e
005 X5 5 M L * s

Figure 3
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36. Then, when a consumer places an item in their shopping cart, Defendant once

again shows the item’s price. See Figure 4.

Just Added

Floral Ann Cardigan

$89.25 $119:00

Color: Indigo Dusk
SizaTypa: Clossic
Size: S
Qi 1

You have 1item in your bag. Subtotal: $89.25

Kosp Shoppeo |

Extra 10% O X

Figure 4
37. Once the consumer continues to “Checkout Now,” they are taken to the following

screen. See Figure 5.

25% OFF OUR NEW COLLECTION > SHOP NOW &, My Account
ANN TAY LOR Newamvals Clothing Work WEEKEND Tops &Blouses Suifs Shoes Accessories Pelifes Sale QA B O Aov
. N You're $60.75 from FREE SHIPPING ©
Shopping Bag (1) Favorites
so I 150
Product Delivery Price Order Summary
’ Subtotal $89.25
Floral Ann Cardigan @ Shiproms e s89.25
Sryle Bussrea Est. Taxes (D 8D
Color: Indigo Dusk () Pick up ot store * 178 Pis
Size Type: Classic Shipping & Processing Fee (T TBD
Size: S
Qty: 1 Estimated Total $119-86 $89.25

26% OFF! PRICE AS MARKED.

#
Checkout | $89.25
it

Remove Move fo Favorites
[ PayPal 1

fres payments of $22.31 with
PayPal D

‘ ® View My Offers @
9

Figure 5

10
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38. When the consumer continues to “Checkout,” Defendant provides the consumer
with the option to either enter their email and checkout as a guest, or enter their email and sign

in. See Figure 6.

Become a x

StyleRewards INS | DER

£ o

EARN POINTS BIRTHDAY GIFT FREE SHIPPING
to redsem rewards 10 reward fromus!l 1 carfificate for Insiders

Checkout

Email

Checkout as Guest

‘ Sign In ‘

This site is protected by reCAPTCHA and the Google Privacy Palicy and Terms
of Service apply.

Figure 6

11
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39. If a consumer does not have an Ann Taylor account, and would like to create one

to sign in, they can do so, as seen on the following screens. See Figures 7-8.

Become a

StyleRewards INSIDER

® & £

EARN POINTS BIRTHDAY GIFT FREE SHIPPING
to redeem rewards $10 reward from us! 1 carfificats for Insidars

Checkout

Hi, idiaz@bursor.com!

Checkout as Guest

OR

Create an Account

This site is protected by reCAPTCHA and the Gaogle Privacy Policy and Terms
of Service apply.

Figure 7

Sign Up

Have an account? Sign In

First Name*

Last Name*

Email*
idiaz@bursor.com
L

Phone Number*

Password*

‘ Confirm Password*

[]ken Loyaty. | og Program Terms and Condi
and acknowledge acceptance of the Brivacy Policy. | understand that by
agrosing 1o thots tarm, | will recoivs amil rolating 1o tho Program.

[] Yot wantro i offers, and p
Ann Taylor,

[ e
Figure 8

12
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Once a consumer enters their email and selects to checkout as a guest, to sign in,

or to create an account, Defendant asks consumers to input their purchase information, such as

their address.

41.

Only then, once the address is inputted, does Defendant disclose the hidden fee—

a “Processing” fee—which is bundled together with the legitimate shipping fee. See Figure 9,

below, and Figure 10, next page.

ANN

TAYLOR

1 Returnto Bag

Ship To:

‘ First Name*

Last Name*

Address 1*
1990 N California Bivd

[] po Bex

Address 2

City*
Walnut Creek CA

State*

Zip Code*
94596

Phone Number*

Shipping Method:

Place this order by 2PM EST fo get it by the estimated dates below.

STANDARD - $8.95
February 18 - February 23

EXPEDITED - $16.95
February 17

February 16

NEXT BUSINESS DAY - $24.95

Order Summary: 1 ltem ~

Ship to Me Standard 4-7 Business Days
Floral Ann Cardigan w
STYLE #858780

$89.25 4560

COLOR: INDIGO DUSK
SIZE TYPE: CLASSIC
SIZE: §

QTY: 1

-
25% OFF! PRICE AS MARKED.
Best Seller

Merchandise Subtotal 589.25
Taxes® $9.08
Shipping & Processing Fee @

(standard) $8.95
Order Total $107.28

Promo Code

O] Apply

Need assistance? Text 1-800-342-5266

Figure 9

13
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ANN TAY LOR f]o Return to Bag

PayPal Pay in 4 interesi-free payments of $26.62 with [ Paypal. Learn more Ship to Me Standard 4-7 Business Days

Floral Ann Cardigan 1
STYLE #858780

$§89.25 5#9:88

Pay in 4 inferest-free poyments of $26.82 with Klarng. Learn more COLOR: INDIGO DUSK
SIZE TYPE: CLASSIC
SIZE: S

QTY:1

Ann Taylor Mastercard perks when using

@ Pay

s

Apple Pay () Best Seller 25% OFFI PRICE AS MARKED.
Merchandise Subtotal $89.25
Taxes® $9.08
By placing your order, you agree to our Privacy Policy and Terms of Use. Shipping & Processing Fee @
(Standard) $8.95
Place Order | $107.28

Order Total $107.28

Please make sure all details are correct before submitting order. Each time Place Order is clicked,

your credit card will be authorized. Orders cannct be modified once placed and submitted for Promo Code O] Apply
pracessing.
Click here for Return & Exchange Policy. Need assistance? Text 1-800-342-5266

PRIVACY POLICY | TERMS OF USE | CALIFORNIA TRANSPARENCY | ACCESSIBILITY STATEMENT | SITE MAP | INVESTORS | T&C ORDER ALERTS | YOUR PRIVACY CHOICES (B3

©2026 PREMIUM BRANDS OPCO LLC ALL RIGHTS RESERVED. = Chat

Figure 10

42. In other words, the total price is never disclosed before a user reaches the final
step in the checkout process prior to placing an order. Thus, Defendant is “[a]dvertising,
displaying, or offering a price for a good ... that does not include all mandatory fees or charges”
in violation of California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A). Defendant is also “advertis[ing] or
display[ing] a price for goods or services without clearly and conspicuously displaying the total
price, which shall include all mandatory fees or surcharges.” Virginia Code § 59.1-608.

43. The Fee is mandatory because there is no way to purchase a product on the
website without paying the Fee.

44. The Fee is not a “[t]ax[] or other fee[] imposed by the government on the
transaction.” California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A)(1).

45. The Fee is not a “postage or carriage charge[] that will be reasonably and actually
incurred to ship the physical goods to the consumer.” California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A)(1).
Although bundled with a legitimate Shipping fee, Processing Fee is not part of the postage or

carriage charge. Discovery will reveal what percentage of the bundled “Shipping & Processing”

14
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Fee is allocated for “Processing” a consumer’s order. A processing fee, “[l]ike any other
mandatory fee or charge ... must be included in the advertised price.”®
Loft’s Website Purchase Flow

46. Defendant also owns and operates the Loft website.

47. The layout of this website is essentially the same as the Ann Taylor website.
Consumers navigating the website and going through the purchase flow see the same prompts
and types of displays from Defendant.

48. Thus, Defendant violates the CLRA on the Ann Taylor website and Loft website
in substantially the same manner.

49. For example, when a consumer navigates to Loft’s website, they are first shown a

homepage from which they can search for various clothing items in the store. See Figure 11.

LOFT  Newamivals Clothing Sweaters Accessories&Shoes  Petites  RiveteDenim  Lou&Grey LOFT VErSQ Sole  Style Report Q @ 0 Aan

TODAY ONLY: Work-perfect styles start at $20°

Online only. Select stylos. Non-combinable. Dotalls.

Figure 11

® OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL, CAL. DEP’T OF JUSTICE, SB 478 Frequently Asked

Questions, https://oag.ca.gov/system/files/attachments/press-
docs/SB%20478%20FAQ%20%28B%29.pdf.

15
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50. As a user continues navigating the Loft website to browse for items, Defendant

advertises the price of each item it sells, as shown below. See Figure 12.

LOFT Now Arrivals ~ Clothing ~ Swoaters  Accessories & Shoes  Polites  Rivete Denim  lou&Grey LOFT VErSQ Sale  Style Report Q% Q9 A
The Palmer Shop Category Size Colors SizeType FitType Price
Loft @ Work ——

s i Gom) (ovmos) (Goragane) (e (o) (o) (o) () (oommzman) (oo (oogeesmaimccsones) (o) 2

Brands We Love

4,071 Items sort By

< <

Influencer Picks

Clothing

Workwear Wardrobe starting
at $20

Shop All

Sweaters

Tops

Pants

Jeans

Jackets & Outerwear
Dresses

Lou & Grey

Skirts

Cardigans

Shirts & Blouses

Tees b
Oversized Faux Leather Bomber Jacket Ribbed Sweatheart Neck Leng Sleeve Tea Rivete High Rise Wide Leg Jeans in Echo Wash
Blazers 8500 $70:00 52497 54095 $66.46 59495

50% OFFI PRICE AS MARKED 50% OFF! PRICE AS MARKED 30% OFF1 PRICE AS MARKED
Sleepwear k

D) o) @
Swim @ Qe @
Intimates

rjewAriwvals n < A\ < - £
Figure 12

51. Defendant further shows the advertised price of each item when a consumer clicks

on any one item to view individually. See Figure 13.

£ My Account

LOFT  mMewamivals Clothing Sweaters Accessories &Shoes  Pelites  Rivete Denim  Lou&Grey LOFT VErSQ Sale  Style Report Q @ oM

HOME | CLomNG | ' sacxer
(sopneioo ) Oversized Faux Leather Bomber Jacket n
$85.00 $170.00
0% OFF! PRIGE AS MARKED

COLOR _iova Chip

.r\.
&

SIZE TYPE Regulor

I/I ulnr\ Petite
!
N o)
sze
ws) (s (s G\ ) (m) (e
J
Sizo Chart

T

| Find In Store }

1
@
u
5

©6120% off your first purchase with the LOFT Credit Card
Sian in To Apply

Pay in 4 interest-tres payments of 52128 with Klarna @ or P payra (D

Product Details ~

extra10% off X

Figure 13

16
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52. Then, when a consumer places an item in their shopping cart, Defendant once

again shows the item’s price. See Figure 14.

50% off your purchase (full price)! Shop Nows S, My Account
LOFT New Arrivals ~ Clothing ~ Sweaters  Accessories & Shoes  Pelites  Rivete Denim  Lou&Grey LOFT VEr$Q Sale  Style Report QB o A

Just Added X

Oversized Faux Leother @
Bomber Jacket

$85.00 $176.00

coLoR: JAVA CHIP

SIZE TYPE: REGULAR

size

arv:

litem in bag
You're $14.00 from FREE SHIPPING

$0 I $99

Keep Shopping Checkout [$94.95

extra 10% off X

Figure 14
53. However, it isn’t until the consumer continues to Checkout and adds their address
in that Defendant discloses the hidden Fee—which is bundled together with the legitimate

shipping fee. See Figure 15.

30-50% off your purchase (full price)! Shop Now> £ My Account
LOFT  nNewamvals Clothing Sweaters Accessories &Shoes  Petites  RiveteDenim  Lou&Grey LOFT VErsd sale  Style Report aQ @ o Ao
Y You're $14.00 from FREE SHIPPING ()
shopping Bag (1) Favorites |
$0  CE— $99
Product Delivery Price Order Summary
Subtotal $85.00
Oversized Faux Leather Bomber Jacket $1750 $85.00
sty 4778853 Est. Taxes (D) 5000
Color: Java Chip & 170 Pts . i
stae Type: Reguior Shipping & Handling (D) 5095
:.T-M Estimated Total 517656 §94.95
50% OFF! PRICE AS MARKED

Youtre saving $85.00.0n this purchase! ()

Checkout | $94.95

‘ PayPal

Edit  Remove Move to Favorites

Pay in 4 interest-free payments of $23.74 with
Klama. (Dor B payrer 0

‘ % view My Offers ‘

Sign In to view your rewards

Have a promo code or gift card? ©

Promo code or gift card Apply m

Figure 15

17
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54. In other words, the total price is never disclosed before a user reaches the final
step in the checkout process prior to placing an order. Thus, Defendant is “[a]dvertising,
displaying, or offering a price for a good ... that does not include all mandatory fees or charges”
in violation of California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A). Defendant is also “advertis[ing] or
display[ing] a price for goods or services without clearly and conspicuously displaying the total
price, which shall include all mandatory fees or surcharges.” Virginia Code § 59.1-608.

55. The Fee is mandatory because there is no way to purchase a product on the
website without paying the Fee.

56. The Fee is not a “[t]ax[] or other fee[] imposed by the government on the
transaction.” California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A)(1).

57. The Fee is not a “postage or carriage charge[] that will be reasonably and actually
incurred to ship the physical goods to the consumer.” California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A)(1).
Although bundled with a legitimate Shipping fee, the Processing fee is not part of the postage or
carriage charge. Discovery will reveal what percentage of the bundled “Shipping & Processing”
Fee is allocated for “Processing” a consumer’s order. A processing fee, “[l]ike any other

mandatory fee or charge ... must be included in the advertised price.”’

CLASS ALLEGATIONS

58. California Class: Plaintiff Sun seeks to represent a class defined as all
individuals in the state of California who purchased item(s) using Defendant’s Ann Taylor
and/or Loft website and paid the mandatory Fee during the three years preceding the filing of this
Complaint. Excluded from the Class is any entity in which Defendant has a controlling interest,

and officers or directors of Defendant.

7 OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL, CAL. DEP’T OF JUSTICE, SB 478 Frequently Asked

Questions, https://oag.ca.gov/system/files/attachments/press-
docs/SB%20478%20FAQ%20%28B%29.pdf.
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59. California Subclass: Plaintiff Sun also seeks to represent a subclass defined as
all individuals in the state of California who purchased item(s) using Defendant’s Ann Taylor
and/or Loft website and paid the mandatory Fee on or after July 1, 2024. Excluded from the
California Subclass is any entity in which Defendant has a controlling interest, and officers or
directors of Defendant.

60. Virginia Class: Plaintiff England seeks to represent a class defined as all
individuals in the state of Virginia who purchased item(s) using Defendant’s Ann Taylor and/or
Loft website and paid the mandatory Fee during the two years preceding the filing of this
Complaint. Excluded from the Virginia Class is any entity in which Defendant has a controlling
interest, and officers or directors of Defendant.

61. Virginia Subclass: Plaintiff England also seeks to represent a subclass defined as
all individuals in the state of Virginia who purchased item(s) using Defendant’s Ann Taylor
and/or Loft website and paid the mandatory Fee on or after July 1, 2025. Excluded from the
Virginia Subclass is any entity in which Defendant has a controlling interest, and officers or
directors of Defendant.

62. Members of the Classes are so numerous that their individual joinder herein is
impracticable. Members of the Classes likely number in the thousands. The precise number of
Class members and their identities are unknown to Plaintiffs at this time but may be determined
through discovery. Members of the Classes may be notified of the pendency of this action by
mail, email, and/or publication through the distribution records of Defendant.

63. Common questions of law and fact exist as to all members of the Classes and
predominate over questions affecting only individual members. Common legal and factual
questions include, but are not limited to, whether Defendant failed to include all mandatory fees

or charges when advertising, displaying, or offering a price for the items for purchase, in
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violation of California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A); whether Defendant advertised goods or
services with intent not to sell them as advertised, in violation of California Civil Code §
1770(a)(9); and whether Defendant failed to clearly and conspicuously display the total price,
including all mandatory fees or surcharges, in violation of Virginia Code § 59.1-608. The claims
of the named Plaintiffs are typical of the claims of the Classes in that the named Plaintiffs and
the Classes sustained damages as a result of Defendant’s uniform wrongful conduct, based upon
Defendant failing to include all mandatory fees or charges in the advertising, displaying, or
offering a price for the items, throughout the online item purchase process.

64. Plaintiff Sun is an adequate representative of the California Class and California
Subclass because her interests do not conflict with the interests of the California Class and
California Subclass and members she seeks to represent, she has retained competent counsel
experienced in prosecuting class actions, and she intends to prosecute this action vigorously. The
interests of members of the California Class and California Subclass will be fairly and
adequately protected by Plaintiff Sun and her counsel.

65. Plaintiff England is an adequate representative of the Virginia Class and Virginia
Subclass because her interests do not conflict with the interests of the Virginia Class and
Virginia Subclass and members she seeks to represent, she has retained competent counsel
experienced in prosecuting class actions, and she intends to prosecute this action vigorously. The
interests of members of the Virginia Class and Virginia Subclass will be fairly and adequately
protected by Plaintiff England and her counsel.

66. The class mechanism is superior to other available means for the fair and efficient
adjudication of the claims of members of the Classes. Each individual member of the Classes
may lack the resources to undergo the burden and expense of individual prosecution of the

complex and extensive litigation necessary to establish Defendant’s liability. Individualized
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litigation increases the delay and expense to all parties and multiplies the burden on the judicial
system presented by the complex legal and factual issues of this case. Individualized litigation
also presents a potential for inconsistent or contradictory judgments. In contrast, the class action
device presents far fewer management difficulties and provides the benefits off single
adjudication, economy of scale, and comprehensive supervision by a single court on the issue of
Defendant’s liability. Class treatment of the liability issues will ensure that all claims and
claimants are before this Court for consistent adjudication of the liability issues.
COUNT 1

California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A)

(On Behalf of the California Subclass)

67. Plaintiff Sun repeats the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if
fully set forth herein.

68. Plaintiff Sun brings this claim individually and on behalf of the members of the
California Subclass against Defendant.

69. Defendant owns, operates, or controls the Ann Taylor and Loft website, which is
a place where consumers can purchase apparel.

70. Defendant violated California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A) by “[a]dvertising,
displaying, or offering a price for a good or service that does not include all mandatory fees or
charges” on the product screens depicted in this complaint.

71. Defendant’s Fee is a “mandatory fee[] or charge[]” that must be paid in order to
purchase the item. Cal. Civ. Code§ 1770(a)(29)(A). Plaintiff Sun purchased her products from
Defendant on or around December 13, 2025 on Defendant’s Ann Taylor website.

72. Plaintiff Sun and California Subclass members were harmed because they paid

Defendant an unlawful fee. Because the total cost was not disclosed to Plaintiff Sun and
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California Subclass members at the beginning of the purchase process, the resulting Fee that was
applied was unlawful pursuant to California Civil Code § 1770(a)(29)(A).

73. Plaintiff Sun and Class Members were also harmed by not having the total cost of
their products disclosed upfront at the start of the purchase process. By not knowing the total
cost before selecting a product for purchase from Defendant, Plaintiff Sun and California
Subclass Members could not shop around for clothing at other retailers, such as Gap and
Abercrombie, to name a few. As such, Plaintiff Sun and California Subclass Members had no
way of knowing whether they were getting the best deal their money could buy. By hiding its
Fee, Defendant was able to reduce price competition and cause consumers like Plaintiff Sun and
California Subclass members to overpay.

74. Plaintiff Sun and California Subclass members relied on Defendant’s false and
misleading representations that the cost of its products did not include the Fee in choosing to
purchase its products.

75. On behalf of herself and members of the California Subclass, Plaintiff Sun seeks
to enjoin the unlawful acts and practices described herein and recover reasonable attorneys’ fees.
See Cal. Civ. Code § 1780.

COUNT 1I
California Civil Code § 1770(a)(9)
(On Behalf of the California Class)

76. Plaintiff Sun repeats the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if
fully set forth herein.

77. Plaintiff Sun brings this claim individually and on behalf of the members of the
California Class against Defendant.

78. Plaintiff Sun purchased the products from Defendant on or around December 13,

2025 from Defendant’s Ann Taylor Website.
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79. Defendant violated California Civil Code § 1770(a)(9) by “[a]dvertising goods ...
with intent not to sell them as advertised.” Specifically, Defendant advertised and expressly
represented the price of their products with intent not to sell them at the advertised price.

80. As a result, Plaintiff Sun and California Class Members were harmed because
they paid Defendant an unlawful Fee. This Fee was rendered unlawful by Defendant’s failure to
timely disclose it.

81. Plaintiff Sun and California Class Members were also harmed by not having the
total cost of their products disclosed upfront at the start of the purchase process. By not knowing
the total cost before selecting a product for purchase from Defendant, Plaintiff Sun and
California Class Members could not shop around for clothing at other retailers, such as Gap and
Abercrombie, to name a few. As such, Plaintiff Sun and California Class Members had no way
of knowing whether they were getting the best deal their money could buy. By hiding its Fee,
Defendant was able to reduce price competition and cause consumers like Plaintiff Sun and
California Class members to overpay.

82. Plaintiff Sun and California Class members relied on Defendant’s false and
misleading representations of the advertised cost of its products in choosing to purchase its
products.

83. As detailed in the body of this Complaint, Defendant has repeatedly engaged in
conduct deemed a violation of the CLRA and has made representations regarding the price of the
items on its Website which are false due to the uniform imposition of the Fee described herein.
Indeed, Defendant concealed the true price of the items, and the true nature of the Fee it was
charging on each purchase, from Plaintiff Sun and California Class members.

84. No reasonable consumer would expect the price advertised by Defendant to

include an unlawful Fee in addition to lawful sales tax and shipping costs. See Watson v. Crumbl
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LLC, 736 F. Supp. 3d 827, 845-46 (E.D. Cal. 2024) (“Plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged
[Defendant] advertises one price for its products while also surreptitiously charging a higher
price by adding the Service Fee. Thus, Plaintiffs have sufficiently alleged [Defendant] advertises
their goods with the intent not to sell them as advertised.”).

85. Defendant does not provide services that would lead reasonable consumers to
expect the imposition of the Fee, and Defendant does not disclose the Fee anywhere before
customers reach the point during checkout after which they have inputted their mailing address.

86. Defendant willfully employed a scheme designed to advertise a price that is not
the true cost of its products, and did so willfully, wantonly, and with reckless disregard for the
truth.

87. On behalf of herself and members of the California Class, Plaintiff Sun seeks to
enjoin the unlawful acts and practices described herein and recover reasonable attorneys’ fees.
See Cal. Civ. Code § 1780.

COUNT 111
Virginia Code § 56.1-608
(On Behalf of the Virginia Subclass)

88. Plaintiff England repeats the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as
if fully set forth herein.

89. Plaintiff England brings this claim individually and on behalf of the members of
the Virginia Subclass against Defendant.

90. Defendant violated Virginia Code § 59.1-608 by “advertis[ing] or display[ing] a
price for goods or services without clearly and conspicuously displaying the total price, which
shall include all mandatory fees or surcharges.” Specifically, on various screens prior to the
checkout, Defendant advertised and displayed the price of their products without including its

Processing/Handling Fee—which was mandatory on all transactions.
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91. Plaintiff England and Virginia Subclass Members were harmed because they paid
Defendant an unlawful fee. This fee was rendered unlawful by Defendant’s failure to timely
disclose it.

92. Plaintiff England and Virginia Subclass Members were also harmed by not having
the total cost of their products disclosed upfront at the start of the purchase process. By not
knowing the total cost before selecting a product for purchase from Defendant, Plaintiff England
and Virginia Subclass Members could not shop around for items at other retailers like Gap and
Abercrombie, to name a few. As such, Plaintiff England and Virginia Subclass Members had no
way of knowing whether they were getting the best deal their money could buy. By hiding its
Fee, Defendant was able to reduce price competition and cause consumers like Plaintiff England
and Virginia Subclass Members to overpay.

93. Because Defendant violated Virginia’s Mandatory Fees or Surcharges Disclosures
Act, it committed ““a prohibited practice under the provisions of § 59.1-200 and shall be subject
to any and all of the enforcement provisions of the Virginia Consumer Protection Act.” Va. Code
§59.1-610.

94, On behalf of herself and members of the Virginia Subclass, Plaintiff England

seeks to obtain statutory damages and reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. See Va. Code §59.1-

204.
COUNT 1V
Virginia Code § 56.1-200
(On Behalf of the Virginia Class)
95. Plaintiff England repeats the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as
if fully set forth herein.

96. Plaintiff England brings this claim individually and on behalf of the members of

the Virginia Class against Defendant.
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97. Defendant violated Virginia Code § 59.1-200(8), which prohibits companies like
Defendant from “Advertising goods or services... with intent not to sell at the price or upon the
terms advertised.” Here, Defendant advertised its products for purchase on a website with prices
that excluded its “Shipping & Handling” or “Shipping & Processing” fee.

98. Plaintiff England and Virginia Class Members were harmed because they paid
Defendant an unlawful fee. This fee was rendered unlawful by Defendant’s failure to timely
disclose it.

99. Plaintiff England and Virginia Class Members were also harmed by not having
the total cost of their products disclosed upfront at the start of the purchase process. By not
knowing the total cost before selecting a product for purchase from Defendant, Plaintiff England
and Virginia Class Members could not shop around for items at other retailers like Gap or
Abercrombie, to name a few. As such, Plaintiff England and Virginia Class Members had no
way of knowing whether they were getting the best deal their money could buy. By hiding its
Processing/Handling Fee, Defendant was able to reduce price competition and cause consumers
like Plaintiff England and Virginia Class members to overpay.

100.  On behalf of herself and members of the Virginia Class, Plaintiff England seeks to

obtain statutory damages and reasonable attorneys’ fees and costs. See Va. Code §59.1-204.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs, on behalf of themselves, and on behalf of the Classes,
respectfully request this Court award relief against Defendant as follows:

a. an order certifying the Classes and designating Plaintiffs as Class Representatives
and their counsel as Class Counsel;

b. award Plaintiffs and members of the Classes actual, consequential, punitive, and
statutory damages, as appropriate;
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c. award declaratory relief as permitted by law or equity, including directing
Defendant to identify, with Court supervision, victims of their misconduct and
pay them all money they are required to pay;

d. award attorneys’ fees and costs; and

e. award any other further relief as the Court may deem necessary or appropriate.

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

Plaintiffs demand a trial by jury on all claims so triable.

Dated: February 26, 2026 Respectfully submitted,
BURSOR & FISHER, P.A.

By:__ /s/ Neal J. Deckant
Neal J. Deckant

Neal J. Deckant

Stefan Bogdanovich

Ines Diaz Villafana (pro hac vice forthcoming)

Celina Reynes (pro hac vice forthcoming)

BURSOR & FISHER, P.A.

1990 North California Blvd., 9th Floor

Walnut Creek, CA 94596

Telephone: (925) 300-4455

Facsimile: (925) 407-2700

Email: ndeckant@bursor.com
sbogdanovich@bursor.com
idiaz@bursor.com
creynes@bursor.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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